1982

# The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company v. Barbara Brundage et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a subrogation action by Plaintiff-Respondent Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, against Appellant Allstate Insurance Company, Respondents Barbara Brundage, and her attorneys Ray H. Ivie and J. Rulon Morgan, to recover the amount of no-fault personal injury protection benefits paid by Ohio Casualty to its insured Respondent Brundage.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

In response to motions for summary judgment by all parties, the court held as follows:

(1) Respondents Barbara Brundage, Ray H. Ivie and J. Rulon Morgan are not liable to reimburse Respondent Ohio Casualty for the no-fault personal injury protection (PIP) benefits paid by Ohio Casualty to Respondent Brundage, even though said

Respondents admittedly received double reimbursement for said special damages: First by the payment of the PIP benefits and second by the payment of a judgment which was not reduced by the PIP payments received by Brundage.

(2) Even though Appellant Allstate (the liability carrier) had paid the full amount of the judgment (unreduced by the amount of PIP payments), Allstate must arbitrate Ohio Casualty's claim and is not entitled to any equitable reimbursement from Respondents Brundage and her attorneys, and Allstate's cross-claim against Respondents Brundage and her attorneys was dismissed.

(3) Appellant Allstate is not entitled to declaratory relief concerning the liabilities and rights of the parties herein.

(4) Over 1-1/2 years after the trial court dismissed Appellant Allstate from this action, the trial court set aside said dismissal pursuant to Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant Allstate (liability carrier) seeks declaratory relief that, since it has paid Respondents Brundage (injured party) and her attorneys Ivie and Morgan, the full amount of the judgment in the personal injury action, which judgment was not reduced by the amount of PIP payments to Brundage, Appellant Allstate is not liable to Respondent Ohio Casualty (the no-fault carrier); and that Brundage is liable to Ohio Casualty to the



extent of double recovery, minus attorney's fees and costs. In the alternative, Appellant Allstate is entitled to equitable reimbursement from Brundage, to the extent of double recovery. With this ruling, Appellant seeks to reverse the trial court's dismissal of Ohio Casualty's complaint and Allstate's cross-claim against Respondants Brundage, Ivie and Morgan, and summary judgment should be granted in favor of Appellant.

Appellant further seeks reversal of the court's order setting aside the dismissal of Ohio Casualty's complaint against Allstate, pursuant to Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which occurred more than 1-1/2 years after the dismissal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case concerns the recovery of no-fault PIP benefits paid by Respondent Ohio Casualty to its insured Respondent Brundage for injuries she sustained in an automobile accident. Most of the facts in this case were created before this Court decided Allstate v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980), and the Court's directions contained therein were therefore not followed; thereby creating a difficult set of circumstances for the trial court to apply the Ivie case. The relevant facts are as follows:

Respondent Ohio Casualty is the no-fault insurer of Respondent Brundage, who was involved in an automobile accident with tort-feasor Jacqueline L. Kernan on May 7, 1976. (R. 29-32, 41-42) Respondent Brundage sustained personal injuries therefrom and received no-fault PIP benefits from Ohio Casualty in the

amount of \$8,313.80. (R. 17-18, 29-32, 41-42)

Respondent Brundage then filed a personal injury action against Kernan in the Fourth Judicial District, Utah County, State of Utah, Civil No. 44997. (Id.) Said personal injury action was tried in September, 1977, resulting in a finding by a jury that Brundage had sustained damages in the total amount of \$27,000.00 (general damages of \$18,771.16; special damages of \$8,228.84). (R. 20, 202) All of the parties herein admit that the special damages of \$8,228.84 awarded by the jury are the same damages for which Brundage was previously compensated through the PIP payment. (R. 17-18, 29-32, 41-42)

The court did not reduce the judgment by the amount of the PIP payments received by Brundage; however, the court did reduce the judgment to \$21,600.00 because the jury found that Brundage was comparatively negligent in the amount of 20%. (R. 22, 202) In the Judgment On The Verdict, the court ordered, "Defendant [Kernan] is hereby ordered to make payment directly to plaintiff Barbara A. Brundage and her attorneys J. Rulon Morgan and Ray H. Ivie." (Id.) Thereafter, Appellant Allstate, the liability carrier for Kernan, paid the \$21,600.00 directly to Brundage and her attorneys pursuant to said order. (R. 29-32, 41-42)

Respondent Ohio Casualty made demand upon Allstate for reimbursement of the PIP payments to Brundage. (R. 118) Allstate denied said claim for reimbursement on the grounds that it had fully paid the judgment, which included the amount for the

reimbursement of the PIP payments. (R. 161-162) Ohio Casualty then commenced this action against Brundage, seeking reimbursement of said PIP payments, upon the grounds that Brundage received payment of the judgment in full, which constituted double recovery. (R. 5) Ohio Casualty thereafter amended its complaint in July 1978, and brought an alternative claim against Allstate. (R. 13) Ohio Casualty again amended its complaint to name Brundage's attorneys, Ivie and Morgan, upon the grounds that the court in the personal injury action ordered the payment of the judgment to both Brundage and her attorneys. (R. 29)

Ohio Casualty also commenced arbitration proceedings on October 21, 1977. (R. 139) The chairman of the arbitration committee responded to Ohio Casualty that the committee could not proceed with arbitration as long as the same matter was being litigated in the courts. (R. 149, 152)

Shortly after Ohio Casualty filed its First Amended Complaint, Appellant Allstate made a motion for summary judgment on the grounds that Allstate had fully paid the judgment in the personal injury action and was therefore not liable to reimburse Ohio Casualty for said PIP payments. (R. 35) The trial court granted said motion in April 1979, and dismissed Allstate from the case. (R. 39-40) In May 1980, Respondent Ohio Casualty made a motion for relief from said judgment of dismissal, pursuant to Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and moved the court in the alternative, for summary judgment against Brundage, Ivie and Morgan. (R. 80) Ohio Casualty based its motion for relief

on the fact that this Court had subsequently decided the case of Allstate v. Ivie, supra, wherein this Court declared that by arbitration the no-fault carrier should seek reimbursement from the liability carrier for its PIP payments. In the alternative, Ohio Casualty argued that it was entitled to judgment against Brundage and her attorneys, who received the double recovery. (The author herein did not represent Allstate until June 30, 1980; R. 44.)

In December 1980, the trial court granted Ohio Casualty's motion for relief and vacated the order dismissing Allstate. It also denied Ohio Casualty's motion for summary judgment against Brundage, Ivie and Morgan and dismissed the complaint as to them. (R. 99-102, 104) Allstate timely filed its Notice of Intent to Appeal. (R. 103) Allstate then filed a cross-claim against Brundage, Ivie and Morgan claiming that if Allstate is required to reimburse Ohio Casualty, Brundage and her attorneys should indemnify Allstate. In addition, since Ohio Casualty was seeking an order requiring Allstate to arbitrate, Allstate also prayed for declaratory relief that Allstate was not liable to Ohio Casualty, and requested the court to declare the rights and obligations of the parties. (R. 120-122) As a part of Allstate's prayer for declaratory relief, Allstate moved to consolidate the present action with the personal injury action, which motion was denied. (R. 124, 192, 193)

Ohio Casualty thereafter made a motion for summary judgment which the court granted and ordered Allstate to

arbitrate the claim. (R. 185, 203-204) Allstate simultaneously made motion for summary judgment against Brundage, Ivie and Morgan and sought declaratory judgment, since all of the relevant facts were admitted by the parties. (R. 194) The court denied Allstate's motion for summary judgment and dismissed Allstate's cross-claim against Brundage, Ivie and Morgan. In addition, the trial court refused to grant declaratory judgment. (R. 210-213)

In summary, the positions of the respective parties on the merits are as follows:

Ohio Casualty's position is that it paid the amount of \$8,313.80 in no-fault PIP benefits to Brundage and it is therefore entitled to be reimbursed from either Brundage and her attorneys, or Allstate, for the amount of \$6,651.04 (80% of \$8,313.80).

The position of Brundage, Ivie and Morgan is that even though Brundage received \$8,313.80 from Ohio Casualty, and in addition, the amount of \$6,583.08 from Allstate by reason of the personal injury judgment (which admittedly constituted double recovery), the Ivie case protects Brundage and her attorneys from any subrogation claim by Ohio Casualty, and Brundage and her attorneys are therefore entitled to the windfall.

Allstate's position is that since it had paid the full amount of the judgment in the personal injury action to Brundage and her attorneys, pursuant to the court's order, it is not liable to Ohio Casualty, since such would constitute double liability for Allstate; double recovery for Brundage; and double



recovery for Ohio Casualty. In any event, the maximum amount of Ohio Casualty's claim is only 80% of \$8,228.84 (the amount of special damages found by the jury), not 80% of \$8,313.80 (the total amount of PIP payments).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

APPELLANT ALLSTATE IS ENTITLED TO DECLARATORY RELIEF THAT RESPONDENTS BRUNDAGE AND HER ATTORNEYS ARE LIABLE FOR OHIO CASUALTY'S PIP REIMBURSEMENT CLAIM AND THAT APPELLANT ALLSTATE IS NOT LIABLE TO OHIO CASUALTY IN ANY EVENT

In its cross-claim Appellant Allstate sought declaratory relief that it was not obligated to pay Ohio Casualty's PIP reimbursement claim and that Brundage and her attorneys must pay the claim. Allstate is entitled to declaratory relief on these issues pursuant to Section 78-33-1, et seq., Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, and Rule 57, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The trial court denied Allstate's request for declaratory relief and ordered that Allstate arbitrate the claim. If there is a legal issue to be decided, the court stated that the issue should be submitted to the court pursuant to Section 78-31-13, which states:

The arbitrators may on their own motion, and shall by request of a party to the arbitration:

(1) At any stage of the proceedings submit any question of law arising in the course of the hearing for the opinion of the court, stating the facts upon which the question arises, and such opinion when given shall bind the arbitrators in the making of their award.

The error in the court's ruling is that Brundage and

her attorneys are interested parties whose rights and obligations are inseparably connected with the issues herein. Brundage and her attorneys would not be parties to the arbitration, nor would any arbitration decree be res judicata as to them. Therefore, the only remedy available to the parties is through the district court in a declaratory judgment action. Once the court has given its declaratory judgment, the matter may then be fully arbitrated, if necessary.

Allstate's request for declaratory relief is consistent with the legislative intent, as codified in Section 78-32-12, Utah Code Ann., as amended, which states:

This Chapter is declared to be remedial; its purpose is to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status and other legal relations; and is to be liberally construed and administered.

The trial court has adjudicated that Brundage and her attorneys are not liable to Ohio Casualty or Allstate. In order to reverse the trial court, it is necessary for this Court to declare the rights and responsibility of all the parties herein.

A. RESPONDENTS BRUNDAGE, IVIE AND MORGAN ARE RESPONSIBLE TO PAY OHIO CASUALTY'S PIP REIMBURSEMENT CLAIM.

Prior to Allstate v. Ivie, the reimbursement of PIP benefits paid to the injured party caused continual problems because almost every settlement and judgment in a personal injury action included the PIP reimbursement claim, resulting in additional litigation, expenses and attorney's fees, which are counterproductive to the purpose of the Utah No-Fault Act, Section 31-41-2, Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended. This Court

resolved these problems by holding in the Ivie case that: (1) the injured party has no interest in the PIP carrier's claim for reimbursement; (2) the injured party cannot recover from the tort-feasor for his damages compensated by the PIP payments; (3) the no-fault carrier's claim for reimbursement must be determined by arbitration.

Because the personal injury judgment herein was entered before the Ivie decision, the above guidelines were not adhered to. Though Ivie states that the no-fault carrier has no subrogation right against its own insured, this holding must be interpreted in light of the facts of the Ivie case and the subsequent related cases. In Ivie the injured party contested the fact that the settlement included reimbursement for the PIP payments, and expressly denied the same. There was never an agreement or an adjudication that the settlement fully compensated Mrs. Ivie, thereby resulting in double recovery to her.

The Ivie case does not stand for the proposition that under all circumstances the no-fault carrier cannot subrogate against its own insured. It stands only for the proposition that where there is a pre-trial settlement, and said settlement does not explicitly include an amount for the PIP payments, the no-fault carrier cannot subrogate against its insured. However, where the settlement clearly includes the PIP payments, thus resulting in double recovery to the injured party, then subrogation is permitted (minus attorney's fees and costs). This was the express holding of the cases which followed Ivie: Guaranty



National Insurance Co. v. Morris, 611 P.2d 725 (Utah 1980) and Street v. Farmers, 609 P.2d 1343 (Utah 1980).

This equitable principle was stated in the case of Dupuis v. Neilson, infra. When referring to the cases of Street v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, supra; Allstate v. Ivie, supra; and Jones v. Transamerica Insurance Co., 592 P.2d 609 (Utah 1979), this Court stated: "These cases are predicated upon the proposition that a basic principle of the No-Fault Act is to prevent double recovery by the no-fault insured." 624 P.2d at 686.

This point was also made clear by Chief Justice Crockett in his concurring opinion in the case of Allstate v. Anderson, 608 P.2d 235 (Utah 1980), when he stated:

If it appears that the wrongdoer "is or would be legally liable" to the claimant, then the wrongdoer's insurer must reimburse the claimant's insurer for its PIP payments it has made, this to be done under the procedure provided in Section 31-41-11, U.C.A. 1953 [arbitration]; and this PIP payment is not to be considered as part of any settlement between the claimant and the wrongdoer or his insurer. (Unless the parties clearly understand and agree otherwise.) . . . This, in order to prevent double recovery, and double payment for the same loss. (Emphasis added)

To prevent double liability on the part of a liability carrier, this Court stated in Ivie that the trial court should appropriately reduce the judgment by the amount of the PIP payments. See also, Dupuis v. Nielson, 624 P.2d 685, 687 (Utah 1981).

The only logical conclusion from these cases, when

jointly considered, is that if a personal injury action results in a judgment fully paid by the liability carrier, and it is clear that the judgment includes an amount for damages previously compensated by PIP payments, then the no-fault carrier should be reimbursed by its insured, minus attorney's fees and costs.

In the present case, there is no dispute that the judgment in the personal injury action did include damages for which Brundage previously received compensation through PIP payments. To prevent double payment of the same loss by Allstate, and to prevent double recovery on the part of Brundage, Brundage should be liable to Ohio Casualty for its PIP reimbursement claim, minus reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

B. IN ANY EVENT, ALLSTATE IS NOT LIABLE TO OHIO CASUALTY FOR ANY AMOUNT OF SAID PIP REIMBURSEMENT CLAIM.

Any right of recovery that Ohio Casualty may have against Allstate is founded upon Section 31-41-11, Utah Code Ann., as amended, 1953, which states:

(a) that where its [liability carrier's] insured is or would be held legally liable for the personal injuries sustained by any person to whom benefits required under this act have been paid by another insurer, including the State Insurance Fund, it will reimburse such other insurer for the payment of such benefits, but not in excess of the amount of damages so recoverable. (Emphasis added)

Allstate, the liability carrier, is therefore responsible to reimburse Ohio Casualty to the extent that Allstate's insured "is held legally liable for the personal injury . . . but not in excess of the amount of damages so recoverable." Since

Allstate has paid the full amount of the recoverable damages to Brundage, pursuant to court order, Ohio Casualty is not entitled to any recovery, because such would be "in excess of the amount of damages so recoverable," which the statute expressly forbids.

The basic objectives and equitable principles of law upon which subrogation is founded are as follows:

1. A party is not entitled to double recovery for the same loss.

2. If there is double recovery, the insurer is entitled to be reimbursed for its payments to its insured, to the extent of double recovery.

3. The tort-feasor and his liability carrier are not obligated to pay both the injured party and his insurance company for the same loss, which would constitute double liability.

If the dismissal of Brundage and her attorneys is upheld and if Allstate is required to pay Ohio Casualty's claim, there will be three injustices that run contrary to the above basic principles of law and equity:

1. Brundage is allowed to keep her double recovery.

2. Allstate is required to pay twice for the same loss.

3. Ohio Casualty would receive double recovery; once through its premium and once through its reimbursement.

There is no equity in allowing Ohio Casualty, who received a premium for its loss, to be fully reimbursed for this loss at the expense of Allstate who did not receive a premium for double liability.

To be consistent with the above principles and to prevent inequity, the Court should declare that in any event Allstate is not liable to Ohio Casualty for its PIP reimbursement claim.

C. THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF OHIO CASUALTY'S CLAIM IS ONLY \$6,583.08.

Ohio Casualty is seeking reimbursement of \$6,651.04 (80% of the \$8,313.80). It is not denied that Ohio Casualty paid a total of \$8,313.80 in PIP benefits to Brundage, however, Ohio Casualty can only seek reimbursement for the amount the tortfeasor "would be held legally liable." § 31-41-11, Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended.

The jury determined that Brundage's total special damages were \$8,228.84. In addition, Brundage was found to be 20% contributorily negligent. Therefore, the maximum amount that Ohio Casualty can claim is 80% of \$8,228.84, or \$6,583.08.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SETTING ASIDE THE JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL IN FAVOR OF ALLSTATE, AFTER A PERIOD OF OVER 1-1/2 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF SAID JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL

On December 6, 1978, Appellant Allstate made motion for summary judgment upon the grounds that it had fully paid the judgment in the personal injury action, which included the amount representing the PIP payments. In April 1979, the trial court granted Allstate's motion and dismissed Allstate from the action.

In May 1980, Ohio Casualty made motion for relief from said judgment of dismissal, pursuant to Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, upon the grounds that this Court had sub-

sequently decided in Allstate v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (1980), which held that reimbursement claims for PIP payments should be handled through arbitration and that the no-fault carrier has no right to subrogate against its own insured. In December 1980, the court granted Ohio Casualty's motion to set aside the dismissal, holding that its prior decision was erroneous. The trial court stated:

The Court's ruling was based upon various erroneous rulings of this Court prior to the decisions in Allstate Insurance Co. v. Louise Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197, wherein the Supreme Court of this state held that the P.I.P. insurer was required by the Act to arbitrate its claim with the liability insurer against whom the insured P.I.P. plaintiff secured a judgment, but that the liability insurer had no rights as to the judgment secured.

(R. 99-100)

The issue is whether the court abused its discretion in granting a motion under Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, made over a year after the original judgment. The applicable portion of Rule 60(b) states:

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