1982

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company v. Barbara Brundage et al : Brief of Defendants-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

In addition, respondent would content that special considerations unique to insurance cases demand that the insurer be held in privity with the insured in such situations. It is a well accepted principle of trial practice that an insurance company will not be named as a party to an action, despite the fact that they are ultimately responsible for the loss, and that they will control the

litigation from its inception. This principle is applied, despite the traditional rights given to a third-party beneficiary to a contract, in order to protect insurance companies from the potential prejudicial effects which their presence in an action may have upon a jury. It would be a highly unjust and inequitable result, should an insurer be allowed to use this limited protection as a means of escaping responsibility for their actions in conducting the litigation.

In 46 C.J.S. Insurance 1252, the principle is articulated:

"Where an insurer was notified of a pending action against the insured on an injury or liability covered by the policy, a judgment against the insured in such action is conclusive on the insurer as to all questions determined therein and material in an action against it on the policy; and the insured is also concluded as to matters established in such action."

In Utah, several specific tests have been established to determine privity for purposes of res judicata and collateral estoppel. The Court in Tanner vs. Bacon, 136 P.2d 957, 960 (Utah 1943) stated that privity means "one whose interests has been legally represented at the time." In Searle Brothers vs. Searle, supra, the Court stated:

"The legal definition of a person in privity with another, is a person so identified in interest with another that he represents the same legal right."

Respondent would content that under the definitions and principles outlined above, Allstate must be held to be in privity with their insured in the present situation. Certainly, Allstate being responsible for any potential judgment, represented the same legal right as their insured in the action. Their contractual right to retain the attorney of their choice in defense of the insured

would obviously indicate that their interest had been legally represented. See also Campbell vs. Stagg, 596 P.2d 1037, 1040 (Utah 1979).

Once Allstate's privity to their insured has been established, it is then necessary to apply the rules governing res judicata and collateral estoppel. The elements of res judicata were articulated by the Utah Court in the case of Olsen vs. Board of Education of the Granite School District, 571 P.2d 1336 (Utah 1977). The Court indicated:

"The parties thereto are concluded as to all matters that were put in issue, or might have been put in issue, or were necessarily implied in the decision...The doctrine renders a final judgment, on the merits, by a court of competent jurisdiction, conclusive upon the parties and is a bar to subsequent litigation of the same issues.

The general rule of law is that a judgment may not be drawn in question in a collateral proceeding and an attack upon a judgment is regarded as collateral if made when the judgment is offered as the basis of a claim in a subsequent proceeding.

The Restatement of Judgments (1942) Section 11, Comment A, defines a collateral attack as follows:

Where a judgment is attacked in other ways than by proceedings in the original action to have it vacated or revised or modified or by a proceeding in equity to prevent its enforcement, the attack is a "Collateral Attack."

Applying the foregoing language to the facts at hand, respondents conclude (1) that the issue currently presented not only might have been put in issue, but was in fact; (2) the trial court's decision in the original action against the insured became a final judgment, on the merits, by a Court of competent jurisdiction; (3) that the present action is a collateral attack, within

the meaning of Olsen, supra, in that it was attacked in other ways than by proceedings in the original action to have it vacated or revised. Furthermore, it is critical as to this latter point to note that Allstate also attacked the judgment in the original action, to have it vacated or revised.

The doctrine of collateral estoppel is likewise applicable to the case at hand. The Utah Supreme Court has recently upheld the requirement that collateral estoppel cannot be used as a sword against a party who was not present in the earlier litigation. See Nielson vs. Droubay, supra. However, privity dictates that this defense would only be available to Ohio Casualty, and not Allstate. Furthermore, Ohio Casualty initially filed an action against respondent Brundage and her attorneys, but upon losing on Summary Judgment, failed to take any of the steps necessary to perfect an appeal. Therefore, collateral estoppel should be applicable in the instant case, regardless of the fact that a stranger to the proceedings is present. Allstate's privity in the earlier action is sufficient.

The essential elements of collateral estoppel are indicated in Searle Brothers vs. Searle, supra, wherein the Court proposes three tests as being determinative:

- (1) Was the issue decided in the prior adjudication identical with the one presented in the action in question?
- (2) Was there a final judgment on the merits?
- (3) Was the party against whom the plea is asserted a party or in privity with the party to the prior adjudication?"

Respondent would maintain that the answer to all three of the above questions should be answered "yes". The latter question has been addressed earlier in this point. The first question is answered by examining the transcript of the original tort action,

where respondent Ivie identified the question as being subrogation, and moving for the exact relief which Allstate claims as error in the current action. Question (2) has never been disputed by appellant or any other party.

Finally, the Searle Court proposed a fourth test in applying collateral estoppel. The final question remaining is:

"Was the issue in the first case competently, fully, and fairly litigated?"

Respondent believes that the answer is yes. The record will indicate that respondent Ivie clearly identified the issue presented by the motion as being one of subrogation. Thereafter, the Court left no doubts that it was willing to entertain any objections which Allstate's attorney, Mr. Christian, might choose to assert. Instead of objecting, Mr. Christian actively joined in the request. Respondents conclude that the only inference which may be drawn from the motion in the earlier tort action, is that the Court provided every opportunity for Allstate to have a competent, full, and fair determination of the matter of which they now seek to contest five years later.

Respondent believes therefore, that the doctrines of collateral estoppel and res judicata clearly apply to bar the present action.

B. The Functioning of Divisions Within the Court

Respondent also believes that Allstate has improperly attempted to have one division of the Fourth Judicial District Court overrule another. In Point III of appellant's brief they

claim that:

"In the event that trial court did not err in setting aside the judgment of dismissal in favor of Allstate, the court erred in not amending the personal injury judgment to reduce it by the amount of PIP payments."

It is important to reiterate at this time that Allstate's assault on the original personal injury judgment occurred in two forms of the Fourth Judicial District Court. Allstate brought an action before the original judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b). Allstate also filed a cross-claim in the present action against Brundage, Ivie and Morgan, who had already been dismissed from that suit.

In the first action, Judge Bullock refused to amend the judgment, on the grounds that it was not a clerical mistake, but a mistake of law, and therefore was not subject to modification at that late date. Allstate made no attempt to appeal this order, and indeed the record will indicate a complete vacuum as it relates to the attempt to amend the judgment before the original trial court.

An examination of the cross-claim will also indicate that no attempt was made to amend the judgment there. Rather, the cross-claim states:

1. First cause of action:

"Since the Court wrongfully ordered Allstate, through its insured Kerman, to pay Brundage and her attorneys for damages which Brundage had, heretofore, received no-fault benefits, and Allstate accordingly complied, cross-defendants Brundage and her attorneys are liable to Allstate in the amount of \$6,651.04..."

2. Second cause of action:

"Cross-defendants Brundage and her attorneys have been unjustly enriched..."

3. Third cause of action:

"Cross-claimant seeks declaratory relief from the Court as to its rights under the law to be protected from paying twice for the same damage..."

Obviously, none of the relief prayed for in the cross-claim requested the original trial court to amend the judgment. Rather, as the first cause of action clearly indicates, Allstate attempted to collect damages, by using Judge Ballif's Court to appeal the prior ruling of Judge Bullock. Nowhere is the request presented to amend the judgment itself.

Two conclusions may be drawn from the foregoing analysis. First, the refusal of the Court to amend the personal injury judgment by the amount of PIP payments is not properly before the Court. At no time did Allstate indicate their intention of appealing this matter. Second, Allstate's actions constitute an impermissible attempt to induce one division of the Fourth Judicial District to overrule another.

The respondents would contend that Judge Ballif's deference to the earlier rulings of the Fourth Judicial District Court, sitting in its different divisions, was a necessary and proper application of judicial procedure. Initially, it must be noted, that divisions of the Court are established for the purposes of judicial convenience and efficiency, and are not so divided for the purposes of forum shopping or forum hopping. In 21 C.J.S. Courts, 137, 210, it is stated:

"A court which is divided into divisions or departments remains a unit notwithstanding; actions brought in any of the departments are in effect in the same court, and decisions and judgments therein are rendered by the same tribunal."

The citation continues at 211, to indicate:

"The court remains a unit notwithstanding such a division; and where the constitution vests the power in the court and not in departments, which are merely for convenience, the judges hold but one and the same court whether sitting separately or together. Actions brought in any of such departments are in effect in the same court, and decisions and judgments therein are rendered by the same tribunal..."

Furthermore, the fact that an action is heard before different divisions of the same court, does not affect the prior decisions of a different judge. At 21 C.J.S. Courts, 137, 213 it is stated:

"A case originally assigned to one division or department may be transferred to another...but such transfer does not affect previous orders in the case made in the department to which it then belonged..."

The reasons for the rules outlined above is readily apparent. The constitution of this state, as well as our sister jurisdictions, provides for effective methods of appellate review. However, where a party attempts to relitigate the same issues in different divisions of a single district court, the ultimate result is a complete breakdown of finality, clarity, and consistency in trial court determinations.

Respondents would urge that Judge Ballif's rulings be upheld to the extent that they reflect a refusal to overrule a different division of the Fourth District Court.

C. Allstate has Waived its Right to Appeal by Voluntary Payment of the Judgment

Respondents would further contend that Allstate's

voluntary payment of the judgment in the initial action against their insured tortfeasor, constitutes a waiver of their right to appeal. It is important to note at the outset, that respondent relies on the same considerations of an insurer's privity with their insured, that were argued under the res judicata analysis, above. Once that fact is established, Allstate's voluntary payment of funds representing special damages, serves as a waiver of the right to appeal the order of the Court which mandated the payment of those damages.

This rule of law is rooted in several different legal foundations. In 39 ALR 2nd 157, it is stated:

"In determining whether payment of, or compliance with, a judgment deprives the defeated party of the right to appeal, the Courts proceed on various theories. They ascertain whether payment or performance of the judgment constitutes a waiver or estoppel, these terms sometimes being used interchangeably, or a release of errors, or an acquiescence in the judgment, or whether payment or performance renders the controversy moot."

The Utah Supreme Court has adopted the general rule of law that payment of a judgment bars the right to appeal, founding their decision on the principle of mootness. In Hollingsworth vs. Farmers Insurance Company, et al, Supreme Court No. 17828, Utah, filed September 7, 1982, the Court stated:

"Generally, when a judgment creditor accepts payment and executes a satisfaction of judgment the controversy becomes moot and the right of appeal is barred."

See also Merhish vs. H. A. Folsom & Associates, Utah 646 P.2d 731 (1982); Clive vs. Mason, Utah 605 P.2d 763 (1980); and

Jensen v. Eddy, Utah 514 P.2d 1142 (1973).

In addition, while Hollingsworth would indicate that mootness is the touchstone of the doctrine, a parties' actions as constituting a waiver, also are significant. The decision stated:

"Any intention IDS may have had to preserve the right of appeal is wholly inconsistent with its action. (in satisfying the judgment)."

Therefore, respondent believes that the actions of Allstate's attorney in soliciting the ruling of Judge Bullock in the original tort action, should serve as a waiver of their right to appeal.

However, the Hollingsworth case also states:

"The general rule does not necessarily prevent an appeal as to separate and independent claims if it is shown that a controversy remains in regard thereto."

The nature of the claims in Hollingsworth, involved money damages, as well as the rights to real property. Appellant accepted the award of money damages, while later choosing to appeal the question as to property rights. The Court there held that these questions were not divisible, and thus review was moot.

In stating that a judgment may become divisible, and thus subject to appeal despite partial satisfaction, the Hollingsworth Court cited the case of Jensen v. Eddy, Utah 514 P.2d 1142 (1973). In that case the Court indicated:

"We are in agreement with the general rule that if a judgment is voluntarily paid, which is accepted,

and a judgment satisfied, the controversy has become moot and the right to appeal is waived. This is based upon the reasoning that when a controversy has come to rest the litigation should cease. But pertinent to the problem here is an ancient aphorism: 'If the reason for the rule is not present, the rule does not apply.' Therefore, the general rule just stated does not usually prevent an appeal as to separate and independent claims where the controversy has not so come to rest. If a judgment is entered as to one part of a controversy which is separate and distinct from another part, and the disposition of the latter cannot affect the disposition of the former, a party may accept the money or property to which he is entitled, and not be deemed to waive his right to appeal as to other independent claims which the court refused to grant."

Applying the above language to the instant facts, it becomes apparent that a division of the issues here would be inappropriate. First, it should be noted that Allstate did not pay some of the amount of damages, while preserving their right to appeal on others. Rather, they paid the entire judgment reflecting special and general damages. This occurred in full light of the language of respondent Ivie's motion, that a question as to subrogation existed. Further, the controversy here had come to rest. After Mrs. Brundage had received the compensation for her injuries, Allstate waited three years before relitigating the issue.

Respondents would respectfully contend that the reasoning of Jensen v. Eddy, supra, is controlling; "That when a controversy has come to rest litigation should cease."

It is sincerely believed that when viewed through the spectacles of the private individual who might be compelled to produce a large fund, stemming from a controversy which a reasonable

person would believe had become final, that the reason for the rule is undoubtedly present.

D. Timeliness of the Appeal

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